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A Primer on Civil Penalties
Against Plan Administrators
Under ERISA §502(c)(1)(B)
By Mark S. Thomas, Esq.1

BACKGROUND
The United States Supreme Court has called the

Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA)2

‘‘a ‘comprehensive and reticulated statute,’ the prod-
uct of a decade of congressional study of the Nation’s
private employee benefit system.’’3 Congress en-
dowed ERISA with several civil enforcement provi-
sions, and one of them, §502(c)(1)(B),4 authorizes a
court’s imposition of stiff civil penalties against plan
administrators who fail or refuse to timely produce
certain plan documents upon request. This statutory
power has often been invoked but is not always well
understood; however, in light of the broad discretion

it confers on the courts, both plan administrators and
the participants and beneficiaries who demand the
civil penalties need to understand clearly the scope,
power and limits of this statute. This article will ex-
plain the scope and purpose of §502(c)(1)(B), the
most typical issues and potential liabilities raised
when civil penalties are sought under that statute, and
the lessons to be drawn from cases resolving demands
for such civil penalty awards.

THE STATUTORY PROVISION AND ITS
SCOPE

Section 502(c)(1)(B) and Its Defined
Terms

Section 502(c)(1) is part of ERISA’s system of civil
enforcement provisions articulated in several parts of
§502. This article will address the second of its
clauses, §502(c)(1)(B), which is the provision most
commonly in dispute in the courts. Hereafter, all ref-
erences in this article to §502(c)(1) pertain only to
that second clause.5 The pertinent part of §502(c)(1)
provides:

1 Mr. Thomas is a Partner in the Litigation Section of Williams
Mullen, where he is the chief of his firm’s ERISA Litigation team.
He can be reached at mthomas@williamsmullen.com. He wishes
to thank his colleague, Jennifer Nusbaum, Esq., for her valuable
time and assistance in the research supporting this article.

2 Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended, 29 U.S.C. §§1001 et seq.

3 Mertens v. Hewitt Assocs., 508 U.S. 248, 251 (1993) (quoting
Nachman Corp. v. Pension Benefit Guar. Corp., 446 U.S. 359, 361
(1980)).

4 Unless otherwise stated, all section references herein are to
ERISA.

5 The first clause of this subsection, §502(c)(1)(A), authorizes a
civil penalty for a plan administrator’s failure to ‘‘meet the re-
quirements of paragraph (1) or (4) of [ERISA] section 606, sec-
tion 101(e)(1), section 101(f), or section 105(a) with respect to a
participant or beneficiary.’’ These references relate, respectively,
to a plan administrator’s duty to provide written COBRA notices
to covered employees and spouses under §606(a)(1) and
§606(a)(4), notice of the transfer of excess pension assets to
health benefit accounts under §101(e), notice of defined benefit
plan funding under §101(f), and pension benefit statements under
§105(a). Notably, unlike §502(c)(1)(B), that first clause authorizes
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Any administrator . . . who fails or refuses to
comply with a request for any information
which such administrator is required by this
title to furnish to a participant or beneficiary
(unless such failure or refusal results from
matters reasonably beyond the control of the
administrator) by mailing the material re-
quested to the last known address of the re-
questing participant or beneficiary within 30
days after such request may in the court’s
discretion be personally liable to such par-
ticipant or beneficiary in the amount of up to
$100 a day, and the court may order such
other relief as it deems proper.

Congress later raised the maximum amount of the
civil penalty to $110 a day, applicable to all violations
occurring after July 29, 1997.6

It should be noted at the outset that this civil pen-
alty provision is very distinct from the well-known
provision under §502(a)(1)(B) under which partici-
pants or beneficiaries may bring a civil action to re-
cover benefits due to them under the terms of a plan,
enforce their rights under the plan’s terms, or clarify
their rights to future benefits under a plan. Section
502(a)(1)(A) does expressly empower participants
and beneficiaries to sue ‘‘for the relief’’ provided in
§502(c),7 but the plaintiffs must also satisfy the re-
quirements of §502(c)(1), as this article will discuss.

Likewise, §502(c)(1)’s provision for civil penalties
is distinct from those civil penalties that the Secretary
of Labor is empowered to assess and recover under
other parts of §502(c), for example, the penalty of up
to $1,000 a day imposed on a plan administrator who
fails or refuses to file the annual report required by the
statute.8 The objectives and purposes of those other
§502(c) penalties, and who may assess and recover
them, differ considerably from §502(c)(1) and play no
part in its interpretation.

The scope of §502(c)(1) is limited by its use of
terms defined elsewhere in ERISA, and those require
explanation. The section’s reference to ‘‘administra-
tor’’ relates to §3(16)(A), which defines ‘‘administra-
tor’’ to mean:

(1) The person9 specifically so designated by the
terms of the instrument under which the benefit
plan is operated;

(2) If an administrator is not so designated, then the
plan sponsor; or

(3) In the case of a plan for which an administrator
is not designated and a plan sponsor cannot be
identified, then such other person as the United
States Secretary of Labor may prescribe by regu-
lation.10

It is clear from the foregoing that ERISA intends that
some ‘‘person’’ (whether an individual or an entity)
will be identified as the administrator for every
ERISA-regulated benefit plan, and thus a specific per-
son will be held legally responsible for each plan’s ad-
ministration.

At the same time, the term ‘‘administrator’’ should
not be confused with ERISA’s broader term, ‘‘fidu-
ciary.’’ Section 3(21) defines a person as a fiduciary
with respect to an ERISA-regulated plan to the extent
that:

(1) the person exercises any discretionary authority
or discretionary control respecting management
of the plan, or

(2) the person exercises any authority or control re-
specting management or disposition of plan as-
sets, or

(3) the person renders investment advice for a fee
or other compensation, as defined by the statute,
or

(4) the person has any discretionary authority or
discretionary responsibility in the administration
of the plan.11

The courts have made clear that the determination of
ERISA fiduciary status is essentially a question of
function, not bound by mere titles.12 It is evident that
an ‘‘administrator’’ within ERISA’s definition could
fall under the last part of the definition of ‘‘fiduciary’’
on the basis of discretionary authority or responsibil-

the imposition of the civil penalty for the administrator’s failure
to comply with those ERISA notice provisions, without first re-
quiring a request from the participant or beneficiary.

6 See 29 C.F.R. §2575.502c-1.
7 See §502(a)(1)(A).
8 See §502(c)(2). See also 29 C.F.R. §2560.502c-2 and

§2575.502c-2.
9 ERISA defines ‘‘person’’ broadly, to mean individuals, part-

nerships, corporations, joint ventures, trusts, estates and other enu-
merated entities. See §3(9).

10 The Secretary of Labor has defined ‘‘plan administrator’’ and
‘‘administrator’’ generally in 29 C.F.R. §2510.3-16(a), in terms
that track §3(16)(a)’s first two subsections, that is, ‘‘the person
specifically so designated by the terms of the instrument under
which the plan is operated. If an administrator is not so desig-
nated, the plan administrator is the plan sponsor, as defined in sec-
tion §3(16)(B) of ERISA.’’

11 §3(21)(A).
12 See Mertens v. Hewitt Assocs., 508 U.S. 248, 262 (1993)

(‘‘ERISA, however, defines ‘fiduciary’ not in terms of formal
trusteeship, but in functional terms of control and authority over
the plan, see 29 U.S.C. §1002(21)(A), thus expanding the universe
of persons subject to fiduciary duties — and to damages — under
[ERISA] §409(a).’’) (emphasis in original). See also Coleman v.
Nationwide Life Ins. Co., 969 F.2d 54, 61 (4th Cir. 1992) (The
phrase ‘‘to the extent’’ in ERISA’s statutory definition of ‘‘fidu-
ciary’’, §3(21)(A), means that a party is a fiduciary under ERISA
only as to the activities that bring the person within the definition).
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ity, even if the administrator does not exercise that au-
thority or responsibility. Thus, an ERISA plan admin-
istrator can be a plan fiduciary, but not every plan fi-
duciary is necessarily an ‘‘administrator’’ within the
meaning of §502(c)(1).13 As discussed further in the
second part of this article, §502(c)(1)’s authorization
of the penalty only against the plan administrator lim-
its the civil penalty to persons who fall within the
statutory definition of that term, and does not encom-
pass the broader class of plan fiduciaries.

Section 502(c)(1) confers the right to recover its
civil penalty only upon participants and beneficiaries.
ERISA defines ‘‘participant’’ to mean,

any employee or former employee of an em-
ployer, or any member or former member of
an employee organization, who is or may
become eligible to receive a benefit of any
type from an employee benefit plan which
covers employees of such employer or mem-
bers of such organization, or whose benefi-
ciaries may become eligible to receive any
such benefit.14

The statute defines ‘‘beneficiary’’ to mean, ‘‘a person
designated by a participant, or by the terms of an em-
ployee benefit plan, who is or may become eligible to
[sic] a benefit thereunder.’’15 In Firestone Tire and
Rubber Co. v. Bruch,16 a case involving a claim for
§502(c)(1) penalties, the Supreme Court held that

‘‘[P]articipant’’ is naturally read to mean
‘‘employees in, or reasonably expected to be
in, currently covered employment,’’ or for-
mer employees who ‘‘have . . . a reasonable
expectation of returning to covered employ-
ment’’ or who have ‘‘a colorable claim’’ to
vested benefits. . . . In order to establish that
he or she ‘‘may become eligible’’ for ben-
efits, a claimant must have a colorable claim
that (1) he or she will prevail in a suit for
benefits, or that (2) eligibility requirements
will be fulfilled in the future.17

Thus, a person who could show such eligibility or a
‘‘colorable claim’’ to such benefits, would fit within
the meaning of ‘‘participant’’ or ‘‘beneficiary’’ in
§502(c)(1).

The Purpose of the Civil Penalty
The purpose of §502(c)(1)’s civil penalty is not to

compensate participants or beneficiaries for injuries,

but to induce plan administrators to comply with
ERISA’s statutory disclosure mandate and to punish
administrators for noncompliance with that man-
date.18 Accordingly, prejudice to the party requesting
the documents is not a prerequisite to the imposition
of the penalties sanctioned by that section, though, as
discussed below, that prejudice may be considered by
the court in exercising its discretion to impose the
penalty.19

The Persons Who Can Ask for the
Penalty

ERISA empowers only participants and beneficia-
ries to seek enforcement of the civil penalty sanctions.
Section 502(a)(1)(A) specifies that ‘‘[a] civil action
may be brought . . . by a participant or beneficiary . . .
for the relief provided for in subsection (c) of this sec-
tion.’’ That is consistent with the words of §502(c) it-
self, which speaks of responding only to requests
from participants or beneficiaries. Neither
§502(a)(1)(A) nor §502(c) authorizes any other per-
son, such as a plan fiduciary or the Secretary of La-
bor, to bring a civil action for §502(c)(1) relief.20

The Disclosure Duty Protected by the
Civil Penalty Sanction

In referring to the information disclosure required
by ‘‘this title,’’ §502(c)(1) refers to §104(b)(4), which
provides:

The administrator shall, upon written request
of any participant or beneficiary, furnish a
copy of the latest updated summary plan
description[,] and the latest annual report,
any terminal report, bargaining agreement,
trust agreement, contract, or other instru-
ments under which the plan was established
or operated. The administrator may make a
reasonable charge to cover the cost of fur-
nishing such complete copies. The Secretary
may by regulation prescribe the maximum
amount which constitutes a reasonable
charge under the preceding sentence.

That listing of plan documents is largely self-
explanatory. For example, the reference to the sum-
mary plan description (SPD) clearly pertains to the
document that §102 requires every plan administrator

13 Id.
14 §3(7).
15 §3(8).
16 489 U.S. 101 (1989).
17 489 U.S. at 117-118 (internal citations omitted).

18 Mondry v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 557 F.3d 781, 806 (7th
Cir. 2009); Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d 648, 659 (4th
Cir. 1996).

19 Faircloth, 91 F.3d at 658; see also Daughtrey v. Honeywell,
Inc., 3 F.3d 1488, 1494 (11th Cir. 1993).

20 Pressley v. Tupperware Long Term Disability Plan, 553 F.3d
334, 337 (4th Cir. 2009).
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to distribute to plan participants and beneficiaries of
qualified plans ‘‘as provided in section 104(b).’’21

However, the courts often have had to construe the
meaning of the closing clause in §104(b)(4)’s first
sentence, namely, ‘‘or other instruments under which
the plan was established or operated.’’ In Faircloth v.
Lundy Packing Co., for example, the plaintiffs asked
for broad construction of the clause, to encompass
‘‘any documents that would assist participants and
beneficiaries in determining their rights under a plan
and in determining whether a plan is being properly
administered.’’22 That construction has no self-
contained boundaries, and, accordingly, its scope
would virtually be limitless. The Fourth Circuit re-
jected that requested construction and held, instead,

Congress used language limiting §104(b)(4)
to ‘‘instruments under which the plan is es-
tablished or operated.’’ The clear and unam-
biguous meaning of this statutory language
encompasses only formal or legal documents
under which a plan is set up or managed.23

The Sixth Circuit has adopted a broader construction
of that clause, concluding that actuarial valuation re-
ports, because they are required for a retirement plan
every third plan year, are ‘‘indispensable to the opera-
tion of the plan’’ and thus fall within the scope of
§104(b)(4).24 However, that is a minority view.25

Faircloth represents the stricter construction adopted
by the majority of the federal courts.26

Disputes over the scope of §104(b)(4)’s mandate
roil the litigation under §502(c)(1). In Faircloth, for

example, the Fourth Circuit rejected the plaintiffs’ re-
quests for the IRS determination letter for an ESOP
plan, the plan’s bonding policy, and appraisal reports
for stock and financial information; none of these
were found to be documents under which the plan was
‘‘established or operated’’ within the meaning of
§104(b)(4).27 However, Faircloth did find that the
plan’s funding and investment policies were formal
documents under which the ESOP was managed or
operated, and had to be disclosed.28

More recently, in Boyd v. Sysco Corp.,29 the court
rejected a request for a complete copy of the plan’s
administrative record for the plaintiff participant’s
benefits claim. The plaintiff had asked for ‘‘all docu-
mentation or other information in the possession of
the company relevant to the claim, including specifi-
cally any information that was not used, not consid-
ered, or rejected.’’ The court held that the claims file
was not covered by §104(b) nor did its nondisclosure
fall under §502(c)(1). While another ERISA provi-
sion, §503, does require a plan administrator to pro-
vide claims information to participants and beneficia-
ries who appeal an adverse claim determination, the
failure to provide such documents does not fall under
the scope of §502(c)(1) or support the award of civil
penalties under that section. In particular, claim guide-
lines are not ‘‘formal or legal documents’’ within the
meaning of §104(b)(4), and, therefore, an administra-
tor’s failure to produce them in response to a written
request does not subject the administrator to
§502(c)(1) penalties.30

Similarly, in Haug v. Midstate Mech., Inc.,31 the
plaintiff asked the administrator for all documents
showing how the plan’s administrative committee was
constituted, who made the determination of that com-
mittee’s membership, the board resolution appointing
the committee members, and any minutes or docu-
ments that reflected any determination by the commit-
tee, as well as ‘‘copies of the board minutes.’’ The ad-
ministrator provided the plaintiff only a copy of the
board resolution appointing the committee and show-
ing how it was constituted. Rejecting the plaintiff’s

21 See §102(a). See also the extensive Department of Labor
regulations at 29 C.F.R. §2520.102-2 and §2520.102-3, governing
the style, format and content of the summary plan description. It
should be noted that this disclosure duty, and thus a basis for im-
position of §502(c)(1) penalties, will not apply to non-qualified
‘‘top hat’’ plans, that is, unfunded retirement plans maintained pri-
marily to provide deferred compensation for a select group of
management or highly compensated employees. ‘‘Top hat’’ plans
are generally exempt from ERISA’s disclosure obligations under
§104(b)(4). Dorsey v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., No. 2:12cv90, 2013 BL
81544 (E.D. Va. Mar. 26, 2013).

22 91 F.3d 648, 653 (4th Cir. 1996).
23 Id. at 654.
24 Bartling v. Fruehauf Corp., 29 F.3d 1062, 1070 (6th Cir.

1994).
25 See also Pearson v. FirstEnergy Corp. Pension Plan, 76 F.

Supp. 3d 669, 677–79 (N.D. Ohio 2014) (even applying an expan-
sive interpretation under Sixth Circuit precedent to that ‘‘catchall’’
clause in §104(b)(4), the requested documents fell outside the pur-
view of that provision, and defendants thus were not subject to the
§502(c)(1) penalty).

26 See also Brown v. Am. Life Holdings, Inc., 190 F.3d 856,
861-62 (8th Cir. 1999) (‘‘other instruments’’ in §104(b)(4) means
‘‘only formal documents that establish or govern the plan’’); Doe
v. Travelers Ins. Co., 167 F.3d 53, 60 (1st Cir. 1999) (mental
health guidelines are not ‘‘other instruments,’’ a phrase which, in
the context of §104(b)(4), refers to ‘‘the formal legal documents
that underpin the plan’’); Bd. of Trustees of the CWA/ITU Negoti-

ated Pension Plan v. Weinstein, 107 F.3d 139, 142 (2d Cir. 1997)
(in §104(b)(4), the term ‘‘instrument’’ connotes a formal legal
document).

27 Id. at 654–655.
28 Id. at 655.
29 2015 BL 286240, 60 EBC 2530 (D.S.C. Sept. 3, 2015).
30 Boyd, 2015 BL 286240, 60 EBC 2530 (D.S.C. 2015). See

also Marcin v. Reliance Standard Life Ins. Co., 50 F. Supp. 3d 23,
27 (D.D.C. 2014) (‘‘Nothing in the text of the ERISA statute or
regulations indicates that section 1132(c) penalties are available
for violations of section 1133 or its regulations, and section 1133
does not provide for penalties.’’).

31 No. CV-11-1584-PHX-JAT, 2012 BL 144325 (D. Ariz. June
11, 2012).
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claim for a civil penalty, the court found that any
documents reflecting the plan committee’s determina-
tion of plaintiff’s compliance with the plan did not
constitute governing documents of the plan, as they
were not ‘‘other instruments under which the plan is
established or operated.’’ As such, the request did not
fit within the meaning of §104(b)(4) and thus pre-
sented no legal basis for relief under §502(c)(1).32

The way in which the plan administrator or its del-
egate treats the document in question may render it
subject to §104(b)(4) and thus bring it within the
scope of a request subject to §502(c)(1). In Mondry v.
Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.,33 the plan administrator of
an employee health plan contracted with an insurance
company to provide claims administration services,
and the insurer performed that role in reviewing and
denying the plaintiff’s benefit claim. In so doing, the
claims administrator mistakenly relied upon its own
internal guidelines to deny the plaintiff’s claim. The
plaintiff asked for copies of both the claims adminis-
tration agreement between the plan administrator and
the insurance company, and the latter’s internal guide-
lines, but was refused. The court held that, where the
administrative duties of a plan were divided, ‘‘the ex-
tent of each administrator’s authority is basic informa-
tion that a plan participant needs to know,’’ and thus
the claim administration contract was ‘‘a contract un-
der which the plan operated.’’34 Moreover, in denying
plaintiff’s claim, the claims administrator cited and re-
lied upon its own internal guidelines as controlling
authority rather than upon the governing plan lan-
guage.35 While rejecting a broad interpretation that
would encompass all documents relevant to a plan,
the Seventh Circuit held that, under these facts, both
of these documents in effect governed the operation of
the plan within the meaning of §104(b)(4), and their
production by the plan administrator was required un-
der §502(c)(1).36

As a general rule, outdated plan documents will not
support a claim for §502(c)(1) penalties, for they no

longer constitute documents under which the plan is
established or operated. However, as in Mondry, the
defendant’s treatment of the documents may support
an exception. Where a claims administrator expressly
relies upon outdated plan documents, the plaintiff may
show a need to obtain these documents in order to ef-
fectively assert rights under the plan. Thus, where the
plaintiff requests them, the administrator’s failure or
refusal to produce such documents in a timely way
can sustain the imposition of the penalty.37

At least one court has interpreted all of the Depart-
ment of Labor’s regulations implementing §502(c) as
a kind of guide to the imposition of penalties under
§502(c)(1).38 However, this holding misunderstands
the scope of those regulations, because 29 C.F.R.
§2560.502c-2 through §2560.502i-1 expressly pertain
to the notices or acts required under the other subsec-
tions of §502(c), not to §502(c)(1)(B). For example,
§502(c)(7) applies to the civil penalties against a plan
administrator who fails to give statutory notice of a
blackout period to affected participants or beneficia-
ries.39 Those regulations do not expand the scope of
the documents subject to §502(c)(1)’s civil penalty.

Some parties have asserted that the civil penalty
can also be invoked to enforce a duty of disclosure
under §404(a)(1).40 That section imposes general du-
ties, known broadly as the ‘‘prudent man standard of
care,’’ upon each plan fiduciary, including the duty to
administer the plan in accordance with plan docu-
ments and instruments that are consistent with
ERISA.41 These include the duty to comply with rel-
evant regulations promulgated by the Secretary of La-

32 Id.
33 557 F.3d 781 (7th Cir. 2009).
34 557 F.3d at 796.
35 557 F.3d at 800–801.
36 Id. at 796–803. According to the Seventh Circuit, ‘‘[w]hen a

claims administrator mistakenly relies on an expired version of
the plan document, a set of internal guidelines, or any other extra-
neous document in lieu of the governing plan language and, in-
deed, cites the language of that document as controlling to the par-
ticipant, then the participant must have access to that document in
order to understand what the claims administrator is doing and to
effectively assert his rights under the plan.’’ Id. at 800. Whether
the participant may recover a civil penalty under §502(c)(1) for
the failure or refusal to timely produce such documents still re-
quires, of course, that the participant meet the threshold require-
ment of serving a clear written request for the same upon the plan
administrator. See id. at 800–803.

37 Hartman v. Dana Holding Corp., 978 F. Supp. 2d 957, 971
(N.D. Ind. 2013).

38 Marcin v. Reliance Standard Life Ins. Co., 50 F. Supp. 3d 23,
26 (D.D.C. 2014).

39 See 29 C.F.R. §2560.502c-7 (titled, ‘‘Civil penalties under
section 502(c)(7)’’).

40 See, e.g., Kollman v. Hewitt Assocs., LLC, 487 F.3d 139,
143–44 (3rd Cir. 2007); Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d
648, 656–58 (4th Cir. 1996).

41 §404(a)(1). This statutory provision requires every plan fidu-
ciary to discharge his duties with respect to a plan solely in the
interest of the participant and beneficiaries; and

A. for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to
the participants, and beneficiaries and defraying rea-
sonable expenses of administering the plan;
B. with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under
the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man
acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters
would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like
character and with like aims;
C. by diversifying the investments of the plan so as to
minimize the risk of large losses, unless under the cir-
cumstances it is clearly prudent not to do so; and
D. in accordance with the documents and instruments
governing the plan insofar as such documents and in-
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bor, such as the regulation requiring that SPDs include
a statement of a participant’s ERISA rights.42 Some
claimants have argued accordingly that, under
§404(a)(1)(D), non-compliance with the Secretary’s
regulations can expose an administrator to civil penal-
ties under §502(c)(1).43

In Faircloth,44 the Fourth Circuit considered such
an argument but rejected it. The court held that, as
specific statutes govern general statutes, ERISA’s spe-
cific disclosure provisions in §104(b)(4) govern the
duty to furnish documents to participants and benefi-
ciaries over the general duties applicable to plan fidu-
ciaries under §404(a)(1)(A). The court also held that
§502(c)(1) imposed penalties for violation of ERISA’s
statutory disclosure duties and did not apply to duties
created by regulation.45 The court declined to expand
the duties imposed under §104(b)(4) by invoking
§404(a)(1)(A) in order to impose civil penalties under
§502(c)(1).46 The weight of the case authority has re-
jected such demands to impose §502(c)(1) penalties
on the basis of §404(a)(1), holding that the civil pen-
alty under §502(c)(1) subjects plan administrators to
liability only for failure or refusal to release the infor-
mation that ERISA’s Title I specifically requires the
administrators to produce.47 Those documents will be
identified by reference to the specific duties imposed
by §104(b)(4), not the more general duties imposed
by §404(a).48

THE MECHANICS OF PURSUING THE
CIVIL PENALTY

The Plaintiff Must Make a Written
Request

By reference to the statutory duty to disclose plan
documents under §104(b)(4),49 which expressly calls
for a participant’s or beneficiary’s written request,
§502(c)(1) requires the request for documents to be
made in writing.50 ‘‘[T]here can be no 502(c) liability
without a written request by the plaintiff for informa-
tion which the administrator was required to pro-
duce.’’51 Oral requests are not a proper basis for civil
penalty claims under the statute.52

The Request Must Be Made to the
Plan Administrator

As discussed earlier in this article, §502(c)(1)’s
civil penalty can be imposed only upon plan adminis-
trators and does not apply to other plan fiduciaries or
parties in interest. Accordingly, in Koenig v. Aetna
Life Ins. Co.,53 the court dismissed a claim for the
penalty against the plans’ insurer (Aetna), holding that
the record evidence established that Aetna was neither
the designated administrator nor the plan sponsor of
the numerous plans at issue in the case, but rather
served only as the third-party administrator pursuant
to various administrative service agreements it had
entered into with the respective plan sponsors.54

struments are consistent with ‘‘this title’’ [ERISA Title
I] and ERISA Title IV.

42 See 29 C.F.R. §2520.102-3(t)(1).
43 Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d 648, 658 (4th Cir.

1996).
44 Id.
45 Id. at 658.
46 91 F.3d at 656–658 (holding that neither §404(a)(1)(A) nor

§404(a)(1)(D) required the plan administrator to produce the
documents sought by the plaintiff-participants).

47 Id.; see also Kollman v. Hewitt Assocs., LLC, 487 F.3d 139,
147 (3d Cir. 2007) (‘‘[T]he connection between §404(a)(1)(D) and
§502(c)(1) is too tenuous.’’)

48 In Mondry v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 557 F.3d 781 (7th
Cir. 2009), the court also considered a claim for relief under
§404(a)(1) relating to a violation of §104(b)(4), but parallel to and
separately from a claim for §502(c)(1) penalties. The plaintiff es-
tablished her right to recover from the plan administrator for fail-
ure to timely produce requested plan documents. See discussion
above. The plaintiff also sought to hold the claims administrator
liable for medical expenses she allegedly incurred for wrongful
denial of benefits, and for the lost time value of the funds spent
on her son’s speech therapy before she was finally reimbursed.
She also sought to recover from the plan administrator for the lost
time value and her expenses incurred as a result of her decision to
decline COBRA coverage. She alleged both defendants were in
violation of fiduciary duties, and pursued ‘‘appropriate equitable
relief’’ against them under §502(a)(3). 557 F.3d at 803. In allow-
ing the plaintiff to proceed against the plan administrator for res-

titution under §502(a)(3), the court ruled that the civil penalties
the plaintiff recovered under her separate §502(c)(1) claim would
not necessarily compensate her for her losses, and, therefore, the
door was open to her request for other equitable relief under
§502(a)(3). Id. at 806.

49 This section provides, in pertinent part, ‘‘The administrator
shall, upon written request of any participant or beneficiary, fur-
nish a copy [of the specified plan documents]. . . .’’

50 Kollman v. Hewitt Assocs., LLC, 487 139, 144 (3rd Cir.
2007).

51 Jackson v. E.J. Brach Corp., 937 F. Supp. 735, 741 (N.D. Ill.
1996).

52 See Reynolds v. Merrill Lynch Basic Long Term Disability
Plan, No. 15-00109 JMS-RLP, 2015 BL 196161 (D. Haw. June
19, 2015), citing Proctor v. N. Lakes Cmty. Mental Health Auth.,
No. 1:11-CV-162, 2012 BL 220900 (W.D. Mich. Aug. 22, 2012);
Tracey v. Heublein, Inc., 772 F. Supp. 726, 728 (D. Conn. 1991)
(denying claim to impose §502(c)(1) penalty for failure to respond
to non-written request for pension benefit statement under
§105(a)).

53 2015 BL 353532, 60 EBC 2310 (S.D. Tex. Oct. 27, 2015).
54 See also Tetreault v. Reliance Standard Life Ins. Co., 769

F.3d 49, 58–60 (1st Cir. 2014) (plan documents did not specify
who the plan administrator was; insurer was claims administrator
but not the plan sponsor, and was not designated the plan admin-

Tax Management Compensation Planning Journal
6 � 2016 Tax Management Inc., a subsidiary of The Bureau of National Affairs, Inc.

ISSN 0747-8607



The Request Must Give Clear Notice
of the Documents Sought

Although the courts do not require a plaintiff to re-
quest by name the specific documents being sought,
they do require the plaintiff’s written request to give
the administrator ‘‘clear notice’’ of the documents re-
quested.55 Thus, in Kollman v. Hewitt Assocs., LLC,
the Third Circuit stated that ‘‘the touchstone is
whether the request provides the necessary clear no-
tice to a reasonable plan administrator of the docu-
ments which, given the context of the request, should
be provided.’’56

The Sixth Circuit, in Cultrona v. Nationwide Life
Ins. LLC,57 likewise held that the plaintiff must pro-
vide the plan administrator ‘‘clear notice’’ of the
documents requested. In applying this rule, the court
held that the administrator is required to provide
documents it knew or should have known were being
requested.58

In Faircloth, the Fourth Circuit found that the
plaintiffs’ request for ‘‘any’’ meeting minutes ‘‘regard-
ing’’ the employee stock ownership plan at issue
‘‘during the last three years,’’ was ‘‘akin to asking [the
administrator] to comb the last three years of trustees’
meeting minutes to determine if they contained any
information that could possibly be encompassed by
§104(b)(4).’’ The court held that such a request was
too broad and failed to give the administrator any in-
dication of the information sought by the plaintiffs.
The administrator’s refusal to provide the documents
was held proper, particularly after the plaintiffs re-
fused the administrator’s invitation to clarify their re-
quest.59

Likewise, in Davenport v. Harry N. Abrams, Inc.,60

the court upheld the refusal to impose civil penalties
where the plaintiff conceded she never asked for her
pension plan’s summary plan description by name but
specifically asked only for information about the type
and amount of any vested benefits she had accrued in
any plans in which she may have participated.

THE COURTS’ EXERCISE OF THEIR
DISCRETION TO IMPOSE THE
PENALTY

The preceding discussion offers many examples
where the courts have refused to impose §502(c)(1)
penalties because a plaintiff sought documents not
subject to the statute’s penalties, failed to send a re-
quest to the plan administrator, or otherwise failed to
satisfy the statutory prerequisites for such claims. In
those instances, to deny the claim is not an exercise
of judicial discretion but simply a sound application
of the statute’s fundamental requirements.

The following cases are of interest because they il-
lustrate the range of the courts’ discretion where the
plaintiffs have met those statutory requirements. The
breadth of the court’s authority in these instances is
immediately apparent.

The Key Factors Guiding the Court’s
Discretion

While not binding, the two most important factors
guiding the court’s exercise of its discretion to impose
§502(c)(1) penalties are:

1. The nature of the administrator’s conduct in re-
sponding to the plaintiff’s request, e.g., whether
the administrator is guilty of bad faith.

2. Whether the plaintiff suffered prejudice from the
administrator’s failure or refusal to provide the re-
quested documents.61

The plaintiff’s ‘‘[f]rustration, trouble, and expense,’’
including the ‘‘trouble and expense’’ of hiring an at-
torney to assist with the document request, are rel-
evant factors the court may consider in deciding
whether to impose the penalty.62 One court has sum-
marized the factors by saying that, in exercising its
discretion under §502(c)(1), the court is to consider
any bad faith or intentional misconduct by the admin-
istrator, the length of delay, the number of requests
made and the extent and importance of the documents
withheld, and any prejudice to the participant.63

Where the failure or refusal to provide the re-
quested documents has resulted from the administra-
tor’s bad faith and the plaintiff then suffered prejudice,
the court’s failure to award any penalty at all has been

istrator; held, the insurer was not subject to §502(c)(1) civil pen-
alties); Marcin v. Reliance Standard Life Ins. Co., 50 F. Supp.3d
23, 28 (D.D.C. 2014) (insurer of long-term disability benefit plan
was the plan’s claims administrator but neither the designated plan
administrator nor the plan sponsor, and thus was not subject to
§502(c)(1) civil penalties).

55 Kollman v. Hewitt Assocs., LLC, 487 F.3d 139, 144–45 (3d
Cir. 2007) (collecting cases from six other circuits).

56 Id. at 146.
57 748 F.3d 698, 707 (6th Cir. 2014).
58 See also Anderson v. Flexel, Inc., 47 F.3d 243, 250 (7th Cir.

1995); Fisher v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 895 F.2d 1073, 1077 (5th
Cir. 1990).

59 91 F.3d 648, 655 (4th Cir. 1996).
60 249 F.3d 130, 135 (2d Cir. 2001).

61 Boyd v. Sysco Corp., 2015 BL 286240, 60 EBC 2530 (D.S.C.
Sept. 3, 2015), citing Davis v. Featherstone, 97 F.3d 734, 738 (4th
Cir. 1996). See also Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d 648,
659 (4th Cir. 1996).

62 Davis, 97 F.3d at 738.
63 Moon v. Rush, 69 F. Supp. 3d 1035, 1046 (E.D. Cal. 2014).
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held to constitute an abuse of discretion.64 However,
it has also been held that courts should not impose
penalties more than those ‘‘sufficient to accomplish
the salutary purposes of the statute in th[e] particular
case.’’65

Cases Illustrating the Exercise of
Discretion

Hartman v. Dana Holding Corp.66 illustrates the
extent to which a court may, in the exercise of its dis-
cretion, balance the equities and fit the size of a pen-
alty to the circumstances of the case. The beneficiary
of a plan participant requested older plan documents
in order to determine if she had survivor rights under
the plans. Outdated documents are generally not re-
quired to be provided, for normally they would not in-
form a participant or beneficiary of his rights under a
plan.67 However, the court held that a plan participant
would be entitled to them where a claims administra-
tor expressly relied on such documents. In this case,
the older plan documents were found to be critical to
the beneficiary’s ability to understand her rights and
eligibility, and production was required. The plan ad-
ministrator (Dana) contended that she responded
promptly by informing the beneficiary that she could
not locate the requested documents but would keep
looking for them. Dana further asserted that the pen-
alty should not apply to documents that had been mis-
placed or lost, because the failure to produce these
documents resulted from matters reasonably beyond
her control within the meaning of §502(c)(1)’s excep-
tion, and did not result from bad faith. The court
noted, however, that Dana had failed to keep the ben-
eficiary updated on the search efforts, gave her no in-
formation for a year, at which time it produced some
1986 plan documents, and eventually found the oldest
requested document (a 1979 SPD) in Dana’s own file
room. Though finding no bad faith and little prejudice
to the plaintiff from Dana’s delay, the court decided
that an award of the statutory penalty was merited and
concluded that ‘‘a modest statutory penalty of $10 a
day’’ was appropriate, for the period starting 30 days
after the written request up to the date that the re-

quested documents were actually produced. The total
penalty was $4,470.68

Moon v. Rush69 also shows the range of the court’s
discretion to fit the facts of the case. The court
awarded the plaintiff a statutory penalty of $20 per
day from the date of the violation (July 1, 2010) until
the day the order issued (December 22, 2014) for the
administrator’s failure to provide requested quarterly
pension benefit statements. In addition, the court im-
posed a penalty of $30 a day for the 80 days follow-
ing the date of the administrator’s notice to the ben-
eficiary’s counsel that he had received her request for
documents, on March 4, 2010, until the administrator
provided the requested documents on June 2, 2010.
The court stressed that plan administrators ‘‘must ei-
ther provide the requested information to the plan
beneficiary . . . or must . . . inform the attorney that
the information will be released upon the receipt of an
authorization signed by the plan participant.’’70

In Jackson v. E.J. Brach Corp., the court found it
necessary to impose a penalty upon the administrator
but took into account the overbreadth of the plaintiffs’
request as well as the administrator’s lack of bad faith
in its response. The plaintiff participants requested the
SPD for the company’s severance plan shortly after
they were terminated, and never received a completed
SPD or, in the words of §104(b)(4), the ‘‘latest up-
dated summary plan description.’’ Instead, the admin-
istrator furnished them a 2-page summary of the sev-
erance plan. The plaintiffs also submitted a second re-
quest, this time asking for all past versions of the
plan, all filings made by the administrator and all
communications it had made to the employees relat-
ing to the plan. The administrator refused to produce
any further documents, though it did produce an ear-
lier copy of the plan after the plaintiffs filed suit. In
response to plaintiffs’ §502(c)(1) claim, the adminis-
trator asserted that it had provided plaintiffs every
document it possessed relating to the plan. The court
held that the failure to produce outdated documents
that had no current application and, in any event, no
longer existed, would not sustain a §502(c) penalty.71

It also concluded that the production of the two-page
plan summary, while insufficient to comply with
ERISA’s statutory requirements, was evidence that the
administrator had not acted in bad faith and had sup-
plied the plaintiffs with enough information to deter-
mine their rights under the plan. However, the court
found that the administrator could have created a for-

64 Leister v. Dovetail, Inc., 546 F.3d 875, 883–84 (7th Cir.
2008).

65 Hamilton v. Mecca, Inc., 930 F. Supp. 1540, 1556–57 (S.D.
Ga. 1996).

66 978 F. Supp. 2d 957 (N.D. Ind. 2013).
67 See also Jackson v. E.J. Brach Corp., 937 F. Supp. 735, 739

(N.D. Ill. 1996) (where outdated documents have no current ap-
plication, the plan administrator is not required to produce them).

68 978 F. Supp. at 969–971, 973.
69 69 F. Supp. 3d 1035, 1049 (E.D. Cal. 2014).
70 Id.
71 937 F. Supp. 735, 739 (N.D. Ill. 1996); see also Thompson v.

Cont’l Cas. Co., 602 F. Supp. 2d 943, 946 (N.D. Ill. 2009), citing
Jackson.
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mal and complete SPD and provided it in a timely re-
sponse to plaintiffs’ request, but failed to do so. The
court concluded that a disclosure violation had oc-
curred and a penalty was merited. Balancing this vio-
lation against the ‘‘little or no prejudice’’ suffered by
the plaintiffs, the Jackson court decided that the pen-
alty should be ‘‘one closer to a nominal amount,’’ and
awarded ten dollars per day for the 692 days, running
from the date 30 days after the plaintiffs’ request
through the date of the court’s opinion — a total of
$6,920.72

The district court in Cultrona v. Nationwide Life
Ins. Co.,73 also had to parse a plaintiff’s overly broad
demand for documents relating to her claim under an
accidental death and disability plan, and refused her
civil penalty claim in part. Nonetheless, the court still
found a basis to impose a penalty for failure to pro-
duce some of the requested documents. The plaintiff
participant had claimed that another ERISA disclosure
statute74 and certain Department of Labor claims pro-
cedure regulations,75 taken together, established a
duty under §502(c)(1) for the plan administrator to
provide all of the documents relevant to the plaintiff’s
claim. The court disagreed, holding that a violation by
the plan administrator of statutory claims procedures
under §503 did not impose liability pursuant to
§502(c)(1). However, although the plan administrator
did not have a duty under §104(b)(4) to provide all
documents relevant to plaintiff’s claim, it did have a
duty to provide her with plan documents upon her
written request. Though the plaintiff’s request was
worded in broad terms that encompassed some docu-
ments outside the proper scope, she also sought,
among other things, a copy of the insurance policy
funding the plan and containing the disputed exclu-
sion on which defendants had relied to deny her
claim. Although the plaintiff did not show she was
prejudiced by the breach of the duty to disclose, the
court nonetheless assessed a penalty of $55 per day
for 162 days, the period of time from the written re-
quest to the date of document production, for a total
of $8,910.

While not binding, the prejudice to the plaintiff can
plainly influence the court’s determination of the ad-
ministrator’s liability and the penalty amount. In

Hamilton v. Mecca, Inc.,76 a participant’s estate sued
a group health plan and sought, among other relief, a
§502(c)(1) penalty for the administrator’s failure to
provide the participant a requested copy of the plan’s
SPD. The facts clearly disturbed the court, for the
coverage claim arose from a failure to furnish the par-
ticipant notice of his continuation coverage rights un-
der COBRA; had he received the SPD, the participant
and his spouse could have become aware of his
COBRA rights and other extended medical benefits
under the plan. Instead, when the request letter was
received by the administrator’s officer responsible for
the health plan’s administration, she read, then dis-
carded, the letter without providing the requested in-
formation. The SPD was not produced until 111 days
later, after the participant and his spouse brought their
lawsuit. ‘‘This,’’ said the court, ‘‘is just the sort of
case where an award of penalties under §502(c) is ap-
propriate.’’77 Yet, even then, the court did not auto-
matically impose the then-maximum penalty of $100
per day (for a total of $11,100), but decided that an
award of $5,000 was sufficient to accomplish the pur-
poses of the statute under the facts of that case.78

A final example again illustrates the extent to which
the court can adapt §502(c)(1) to fit the case. In Chaf-
fin v. NiSource, Inc.,79 a disability plan participant
sued for, among other things, the plan administrator’s
failure to produce a requested copy of the plan and the
complete administrative record of her claim. The
plaintiff’s counsel sent letters with the request both to
the plan’s designated administrator (the employer, Ni-
Source) and its claims administrator (Prudential). Ni-
Source contacted Prudential within a couple of weeks
and was informed that Prudential had responded to
the request; however, Prudential’s actual response was
only to inform plaintiff’s counsel that a copy of the
file had already been provided to plaintiff’s previous
counsel. NiSource took no other steps until about a
year later, when it e-mailed a copy of the plan to
plaintiff’s counsel. On this record, the court held that
NiSource, as the administrator, violated its disclosure
duties, for it had received a written request for the
plan document, took no action within the 30-day re-
sponse period except to rely imprudently on Pruden-
tial’s reported response, and did not provide the re-
quested information for a year. In all, NiSource was
362 days late, and, if the court imposed the maximum
penalty of $110 per day, the total penalty would have
been $39,820. Although the plaintiff was clearly frus-
trated by the lack of a response, the record did not
show that NiSource acted ‘‘out of a malicious disre-

72 937 F. Supp. at 740–742.
73 936 F. Supp. 2d 832, 853 (N.D. Ohio 2013), aff’d, 748 F.3d

698 (6th Cir. 2014).
74 §109(c).
75 29 C.F.R. §2560.503-1(h)(2)(iii) and §2560.503-1(m)(8).

These regulations set forth the documents the Department of La-
bor considers pertinent to a participant’s or beneficiary’s appeal of
an adverse benefit determination and, without which, a participant
or beneficiary could not be deemed to receive a reasonable oppor-
tunity to obtain the ‘‘full and fair review’’ of a claim denial as re-
quired under §503.

76 930 F. Supp. 1540 (S.D. Ga. 1996).
77 930 F. Supp. at 1556.
78 930 F. Supp. at 1557.
79 703 F. Supp. 2d 579 (S.D. W. Va. 2010).

Tax Management Compensation Planning Journal

� 2016 Tax Management Inc., a subsidiary of The Bureau of National Affairs, Inc. 9
ISSN 0747-8607



gard’’ for the request. The court accordingly held that
a penalty of $50 per day, for a total of $18,100, was
adequate to ‘‘punish[] NiSource for its violation of the
statute and [took] into account the frustration and
trouble Plaintiff experienced.’’80

THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR’S
DEFENSES

Plan administrators often have legitimate defenses
to a claim for §502(c)(1) penalties. As shown in the
preceding discussion, many cases turn on the facts
and circumstances, but the following non-exhaustive
list provides the standard defenses potentially avail-
able to the defendant plan administrators.

The Claim Is Barred by the Statute of
Limitations

ERISA has no statutory limitations period appli-
cable to this type of claim. ERISA’s civil enforcement
provision, §502, does not contain a statute of limita-
tions, and ERISA’s only statute of limitations or re-
pose81 applies solely to claims for breach of fiduciary
duties, not to claims for violation of a plan adminis-
trator’s statutory duty to respond to a request for plan
documents. Consequently, the courts must borrow
from the jurisdiction in which the court sits the limi-
tations period applicable to the claims most closely
corresponding to the federal cause of action.82

The claim for civil penalties under §502(c)(1) ac-
crues when; (1) the plaintiff makes a written demand
for information to which he or she is entitled under
ERISA; and (2) the administrator fails or refuses to
supply the requested information within 30 days of
the demand.83 Thus, the clock begins to run upon the
administrator’s failure or refusal to comply with the
eligible participant’s or beneficiary’s request within
the statutory 30-day period. After that 30-day period
has expired without such compliance, the claimant is

deemed to know all of the material facts relevant to
bringing a §502(c)(1) claim.84

The Plaintiff Lacks Standing to
Request the Documents

The court in Peterson v. Windham Cmty. Mem’l
Hosp., Inc.,85 held that the plaintiff lacked standing to
assert a cause of action against the administrator un-
der §502(c). The plaintiff resigned from his employ-
ment with the defendant in April 2007. In the court’s
view, he thus had neither a reasonable expectation of
returning to covered employment nor a colorable
claim to vested benefits, when his counsel sent the
plan administrator a written request for plan docu-
ments in February 2008. Accordingly, the plaintiff
was found to be neither a participant nor a beneficiary
under the plan and thus lacked standing under
§502(c)(1) to request the documents or to seek a civil
penalty for the failure or refusal to produce them.86

The Plaintiff Sent the Request to the
Wrong Person

As discussed above, §502(c)(1) plainly imposes the
penalty upon a plan administrator, not plan fiduciaries
in general nor every entity involved in plan adminis-
tration. A plaintiff participant or beneficiary must di-
rect the document request to that entity or its delegate
with the statutory responsibility for the required docu-
ment disclosures. Where the plan administrator or its
delegate has never received the request, the duty to re-
spond is not triggered, and that administrator cannot
be held liable under the statute.

Plaintiffs may sometimes be confused where the
plan administrator has delegated claims administra-
tion duties to a third party, and it is with this third
party, on all or most matters, that the plaintiff is deal-
ing. In Boyd v. Sysco Corp.,87 the plaintiffs sought
mental health benefits under a group health plan
where Sysco Corporation (Sysco) was the plan admin-
istrator, but Sysco delegated the claims administration
to a third party. That third party determined claim eli-
gibility, issued and reviewed all claim forms, and de-
nied the plaintiffs’ claim. The plaintiffs received no re-
sponse to the written document request that they had
sent to the third party’s address for administrative ap-
peals of claim denials. In their subsequent civil action,
the plaintiffs sought a civil penalty from Sysco under

80 703 F. Supp. 2d at 597–99.
81 §413.
82 Pressley v. Tupperware Long Term Disability Plan, 553 F.3d

334 (4th Cir. 2009) (applying South Carolina’s 3-year statute of
limitations for certain penalties or forfeitures); Walker v. Pharm.
Research and Mfrs. of Am., 827 F. Supp. 2d 8, 13 (D.D.C. 2011)
(applying District of Columbia 1-year statute of limitations for a
statutory penalty); Thompson v. Continental Cas. Co., 602 F.
Supp. 2d 943 (N.D. Ill. 2009) (applying Illinois 2-year statute of
limitations).

83 Walker v. Pharm. Research and Mfrs. of Am., 827 F. Supp.
2d 8, 13 (D.D.C. 2011). See also Reynolds v. Merrill Lynch Basic
Long Term Disability Plan, No. 15-00109 JMS-RLP, 2015 BL
196161 (D. Haw. June 19, 2015) (rejecting ‘‘continuing violation’’
theory for penalty claims under §502(c)(1)(B); once the adminis-
trator’s 30-day time limit lapses, the statute of limitations begins
to run on the claim for the civil penalty).

84 Reynolds, 2015 BL 196161 (citing Walker v. Pharm. Re-
search and Mfrs. of Am., 827 F. Supp. 2d 8, 13 (D.D.C. 2011)).

85 803 F. Supp. 2d 96 (D. Conn. 2011).
86 803 F. Supp. 2d at 108; see also Bulovic v. Both, 14 F. Supp.

3d 365, 390 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (same).
87 2015 BL 286240, 60 EBC 2530 (D.S.C. 2015).
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§502(c)(1). The court found that Sysco was not liable.
Although Sysco delegated the claims administration
to the third party, nothing in the plan delegated Sys-
co’s document disclosure duties under §104(b)(4), and
Sysco itself never received a written request for the
requisite plan documents.88

Likewise, in Hiney Printing Co. v. Brantner,89 the
district court acted within its discretion in refusing to
impose civil penalties where the participant had sent
her document request not to the designated plan ad-
ministrator (her employer), but to a consulting firm
that had provided administrative assistance to the
plan. The court noted that the firm had informed the
participant’s counsel that the firm was not the admin-
istrator. In the face of this evidence, the participant ar-
gued that the consulting firm was a ‘‘de facto’’ admin-
istrator of the plan, and that the designated adminis-
trator should be liable for its failure to produce the
requested documents. The court readily rejected that
contention.90

The Plaintiff Requested Documents
Not Subject to the §502(c) (1) Penalty

As discussed earlier in this article, §502(c)(1)’s
civil penalty does not encompass every document that
a participant or beneficiary might deem relevant to a
claim against the plan, nor every document that the
plan administrator has a duty to disclose to the partici-
pants and beneficiaries, such as the administrative re-
cords on which an adverse claim decision is based.
Generally, the pertinent documents for §502(c)(1)
analysis are those enumerated in §104(b)(4) or are
embraced by that section’s clause, ‘‘other instruments
under which the plan was established or operated.’’
Accordingly, where the plaintiff has made a written
request to the plan administrator but asked for docu-
ments outside the scope of §104(b)(4), the weight of
authority supports a refusal to produce the requested
documents.91

The Plaintiff Failed to Make a
Sufficiently Specific Request (No
‘‘Clear Notice’’)

As discussed earlier in this article, the participant’s
or beneficiary’s written request must give the admin-
istrator ‘‘clear notice’’ of the documents sought, in
part to enable the administrator to determine whether
it has the documents and also to ascertain whether the
documents fall within the scope of documents that the
administrator must disclose.92 Failure to give the ad-
ministrator this clear notice is a sufficient basis to re-
fuse the document disclosure and to defeat the plain-
tiff’s subsequent demand for §502(c)(1) civil penal-
ties.93

The Administrator’s Failure or Refusal
Resulted from Matters Reasonably
Beyond the Administrator’s Control

Section 502(c)(1) itself contains one factor that
may exonerate the administrator from liability for the
civil penalty even where a participant or beneficiary
has duly made a request for documents; namely,
where the administrator’s failure to comply results
from ‘‘matters reasonably beyond the control of the
administrator.’’ While courts may initially view such
a broad exception with skepticism, there are times
when it is sound. The plaintiff participants in Jackson
v. E.J. Brach Corp.,94 for example, requested not only
the plan’s SPD but, in a second request, past versions
of the plan document, ‘‘all filings’’ made by the ad-
ministrator and ‘‘all communications’’ it had made to
the participants required under ERISA. The adminis-
trator showed that many of the documents no longer
existed or had never been created in the first place.
The Jackson court, citing to the statute’s ‘‘matters rea-
sonably beyond the control of the administrator’’ ex-
ception, held that, in the absence of any evidence of
bad faith on the part of the administrator, a §502(c)(1)
penalty could not be imposed for the failure to pro-
duce a non-existent or misplaced outdated plan docu-
ment.95

In Hartman v. Dana Holding Corp.,96 however, the
administrator’s reliance upon this defense was un-88 Id.

89 243 F.3d 956 (6th Cir. 2001).
90 243 F.3d at 960-961.
91 Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d 648, 654-656 (4th

Cir. 1996); see also Brown v. Am. Life Holdings, Inc., 190 F.3d
856, 861–62 (8th Cir. 1999) (‘‘other instruments’’ in §104(b)(4)
means ‘‘only formal documents that establish or govern the
plan’’); Doe v. Travelers Ins. Co., 167 F.3d 53, 60 (1st Cir. 1999)
(mental health guidelines are not ‘‘other instruments,’’ a phrase
that, in the context of §104(b)(4), refers to ‘‘the formal legal docu-
ments that underpin the plan’’); Bd. of Trustees of the CWA/ITU
Negotiated Pension Plan v. Weinstein, 107 F.3d 139, 142 (2d Cir.
1997) (in §104(b)(4), the term ‘‘instrument’’ connotes a formal le-
gal document).

92 Boyd v. Sysco Corp., 2015 BL 286240, 60 EBC 2530 (D.S.C.
2015), citing Faircloth, 91 F.3d at 653.

93 Id.
94 937 F. Supp. 735 (N.D. Ill. 1996).
95 937 F. Supp. at 739; see also Ward v. Maloney, 386 F. Supp.

2d 607, 613 (M.D. N.C. 2005) (administrator, in responding to
§104(b)(1) request, has no duty to produce a non-existent docu-
ment that has no current application and for which ERISA im-
poses no statutory duty to maintain), aff’d, 171 Fed. Appx. 986
(4th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 916 (2006).

96 978 F. Supp. 2d 957 (N.D. Ind. 2013).
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availing. The plan administrator asserted that the pen-
alty should not be imposed for failure to produce
documents that had been misplaced or lost, the failure
allegedly resulting from matters reasonably beyond
the administrator’s control and not as the result of bad
faith. The Hartman court noted, however, that al-
though the administrator had informed the plaintiff
beneficiary that it was searching for the requested
documents, the administrator failed to keep her up-
dated on its search efforts, gave her no information for
a year, and eventually found the oldest requested
documents in its own file room. The court declined to
apply the exception, found liability, and imposed a
penalty.97

CONCLUSION
Section 502(c)(1) has proven to be a potent part of

ERISA’s integrated scheme of civil enforcement pro-
visions, establishing a strong inducement for plan ad-
ministrators to comply with ERISA’s statutory disclo-
sure mandate and providing participants and benefi-
ciaries a practical remedy to punish administrators for
noncompliance with that mandate, even in the ab-
sence of clear prejudice to those plaintiffs. However,
that remedy is not limitless. Generally, the courts have
been attentive to the intended scope and purpose of
the statute, and their exercise of discretion to impose
the penalty can be nuanced. As a result, §502(c)(1)
has developed into more of a rapier than a meat
cleaver for the enforcement of the broad Congressio-
nal purposes of ERISA.97 978 F. Supp. 2d at 969–971.
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